ARGUMENT  

I. Wisconsin’s statutory scheme permitting 
the  use of a prior refusal to increase the 
criminal  penalty in an operating while 
intoxicated case is unconstitutional. 

 A. Wisconsin’s statutory scheme permitting 
 the use of a prior refusal to increase the 
 penalty in an operating while intoxicated 
 case is unconstitutional. 

In North Dakota v. Birchfield, 136 S. Ct. 2160 
(2016), the United States Supreme Court “dictat[ed] 
that criminal penalties may not be imposed for the 
refusal to submit to a blood test.” State v. Dalton, 
2018 WI 85, ¶ 59, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120. 

Wisconsin’s OWI penalty statutes do exactly 
what Birchfield prohibits—they allow the imposition 
of criminal penalties for the refusal to submit to a 
blood test. A person’s refusal to submit to a blood test 
counts as a prior offense for the purpose of increasing 
or lengthening the person’s sentence.  

The State argues that “[w]hen a refusal is used 
to enhance the sentence for a subsequent OWI, the 
sentence is imposed for the OWI, not the refusal.” 
(State’s Br. at 14).  

Mr. Forrett disagrees with this 
characterization. Take for example this case. Because 
the refusal counts as a prior conviction under 
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Wisconsin’s statutory scheme, Mr. Forrett went from 
being sentenced for a Class G felony to a Class F 
felony, with higher maximum and minimum 
penalties.  

The State also argues that the issue in this case 
is akin to that in State v. Levanduski, 2020 WI App 
53, 393 Wis. 2d 674, 948 N.W.2d 411 (petition for 
review pending), which held that a refusal could be 
used at trial as evidence of operating while 
intoxicated (OWI).  

Using a refusal as evidence to help persuade a 
fact finder that a person is guilty of an OWI is 
different than using a refusal as proof of guilt to 
increase a person’s sentence. While a refusal may be 
used to support guilt, it does not mean that a person 
is in fact guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of an OWI. 
A person could refuse and then be found not guilty at 
trial. Thus, using a refusal as evidence at trial is 
simply not “the same thing” as using a refusal to 
increase a sentence. By using a refusal to increase a 
sentence, the person is suffering a criminal penalty 
for the refusal.  

Lastly, holding that a refusal cannot be used to 
increase a sentence will not allow people to “escape 
convictions” as the State suggests. (State’s Br. at 15-
16). As discussed above, under current case law, a 
refusal can be used as evidence at trial to convict a 
person of an OWI. See Levanduski, 2020 WI App 53. 
Additionally, the person can be subject to civil 
penalties. Id. ¶ 12.  
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Therefore, this Court should find that the 
Wisconsin OWI statutes that allow a refusal to count 
as a prior offense are unconstitutional.  

B. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to 
object to Wisconsin’s unconstitutional 
penalty scheme and the use of a prior 
refusal. 

As stated in the initial brief, it is Mr. Forrett’s 
position that this case presents a facial challenge. 
(Forrett Br. at 7).1 A facial challenge cannot be 
waived. Winnebago Cnty. v. Christopher S., 2016 WI 
1, ¶ 4 n.6, 366 Wis. 2d 1, 878 N.W.2d 109. Thus, this 
Court need not reach the ineffective assistance of 
counsel claim.  

However, if this Court finds waiver or 
forfeiture, Mr. Forrett asks that this Court address 
the ineffective assistance of counsel claim.  

Mr. Forrett agrees with the State that if the 
constitutional challenge lacks merit, he cannot 
prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.  

If, however, the constitutional claim is 
meritorious and this Court finds waiver or forfeiture, 
Mr. Forrett was deprived of effective assistance of 
counsel. A reasonable attorney would have reviewed 
                                         

1 It does not appear that the State contests this 
characterization. (See State’s Br. at 7). 
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Birchfield2 and objected in this case. Counsel is 
expected to research and interpret relevant portions 
of the law. See State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 51, 264 
Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305; see also SCR 20:1.1 (“A 
lawyer shall provide reasonably competent 
representation to a client. Competent representation 
requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and 
preparation reasonably necessary for the 
representation.”).  

The State cites State v. Lemberger, 2017 WI 39, 
374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232, for the proposition 
that trial counsel cannot perform deficiently by 
failing to make a novel argument. However, in 
Lemberger, there was “settled” case law and the 
defendant asked that several cases be “overruled and 
no longer followed.” Id. ¶¶ 19, 30, 36. That is not the 
situation here. The State has not cited any published 
Wisconsin decision stating that it is proper to use a 
refusal to enhance an OWI conviction following 
Birchfield.  

 

 

 
                                         

2 Contrary to the State’s suggestion, Mr. Forrett has 
always based his ineffective assistance of counsel claim on 
Birchfield, not Dalton, which was decided after the plea. (See 
Forrett Br. at 14).   
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Forrett