Filed 06-07-2021

Page 1 of 9

RECEIVED 06-07-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2019AP1850-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

SCOTT W. FORRETT,

Defendant-Appellant-Respondent.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID MALKUS Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1094027

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 malkusd@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Respondent

ARGUMENT

I. Review of the State's first issue is unnecessary because this case presents a straightforward application of precedent.

The State urges this Court to grant review of a published decision of the Court of Appeals holding that Wisconsin's accelerated penalty structure for OWI offenses, which authorizes the counting of revocations for refusal of a warrantless blood test to enhance penalties for an OWI in a subsequent case, is unconstitutional. Review is necessary, the State contends, because "neither the United States Supreme Court nor this Court has even suggested that Wisconsin's OWI statutes are unconstitutional." (State's Petition at 4-5). Mr. Forrett asks this Court to deny the State's request to review this issue because this Court's review would be unnecessary.

Contrary to the State's argument, this case presents a straightforward application of precedent articulated in Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016) and State v. Dalton, 2018 WI 85, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120. In Birchfield, the United States Supreme Court examined whether a law making "it a crime for a motorist to refuse to be tested after being lawfully arrested for driving while violated Fourth Amendment's impaired" the proscription against unreasonable searches and seizures. Birchfield, 136 S. Ct. at 2166-67. The Court found "that motorists cannot be deemed to have

consented to submit to a blood test on pain of committing a criminal offense." *Id.* at 2186.

Birchfield acknowledged that "prior opinions have referred approvingly to the general concept of implied consent laws that impose *civil penalties and evidentiary consequences* on motorists who refuse to comply." *Id.* at 2185 (emphasis added). However, *Birchfield* emphasized that *criminal penalties* may *not* be imposed for a refusal. The Court stated that "[i]t is another matter . . . for a State not only to insist upon an intrusive blood test, but also to impose criminal penalties on the refusal to submit to such a test. There must be a limit to the consequences to which motorists may be deemed to have consented by virtue of a decision to drive on public roads." *Id.*

Similarly, in *Dalton* this Court addressed the constitutionality of a circuit court's decision to impose an increased sentence for the defendant's OWI "for the sole reason that he refused to submit to a blood test." *Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶60. Holding that a sentence that is increased solely on this basis is unlawful, the Court noted that, under *Birchfield*, criminal penalties may not be imposed for the refusal to submit to a blood test and "[a] lengthier jail sentence is certainly a criminal penalty." *Dalton*, 383 Wis. 2d 147, ¶¶58-60 (citing *Doering v. WEA Ins. Grp.*, 193 Wis. 2d 118, 141, 532 N.W.2d 432 (1995) (referring to imprisonment as a criminal penalty); *State v. Peterson*, 104 Wis. 2d 616, 621, 312 N.W.2d 784 (1981) (same)). Thus, this Court held that the circuit court's sentence criminally

punished the defendant for exercising a constitutional right, which is impermissible. *Id.* at \P 61.

Contrary to the arguments raised in the State's petition, Wisconsin's OWI penalty statutes do exactly what *Birchfield* and *Dalton* prohibit—they allow the imposition of criminal penalties for the refusal to submit to a blood test. As the Court of Appeals recognized:

[I]nclusion of revocations for refusals to submit to a warrantless blood draw under Wisconsin's penalty scheme, which clearly results in an increased penalty, is a consequence which is outside the limit permitted by the Fourth Amendment. Put slightly differently, we conclude that it is unconstitutional under *Birchfield* when there is an increased criminal penalty based on the refusal of a warrantless blood test. We cannot overlook the fact that the revocation results in an increased penalty—albeit delayed.

State v. Scott William Forrett, Case No. 2019AP1850-CR (Wis. Ct. App. April 28, 2021), ¶¶ 14-15.

Additionally, in the case of Mr. Forrett, the exercise of his right to refuse was in fact used to punish him. The refusal increased his sentence from an OWI 6th offense, a Class G felony, to an OWI 7th offense, a Class F felony, with higher maximum and minimum penalties. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.50(3).

Therefore, the Wisconsin OWI statutes which allow a warrantless blood test refusal to count as a prior offense to increase a person's sentence are unconstitutional. The Court of Appeals applied the correct legal standard in remanding for further proceedings commuting Mr. Forrett's conviction to a 6th offense OWI and resentencing accordingly.

II. Review of the State's second issue is unnecessary to resolve Mr. Forrett's appeal or develop and clarify the law.

The State also contends that "the court of appeals' opinion is in conflict with opinions of the United States Supreme Court, this Court, and the court of appeals." (State's Petition at 5). Specifically, the State argues that the counting of a blood draw refusal revocation does not actually amount to a criminal penalty for refusal. In support, the State refers to cases which hold that criminal penalty enhancers do not result in double jeopardy and *ex post facto* constitutional violations because penalty enhancers punish recidivism. (*Id.* at 16-19).

The State's argument is unpersuasive. To begin with, refusal of a warrantless blood draw is the exercise of a constitutionally protected right, not an instance of recidivist drinking while driving. *See Forrett*, Case No. 2019AP1850-CR, ¶ 16. Moreover, as the Court of Appeals observed:

[The] argument (that the refusal could be an aggravating factor because it is not a stand-alone crime but reflects on the character of the defendant) was not compelling in *Dalton*, as the court rejected the notion that the refusal was but an aggravating sentencing consideration which

justified treating the OWI more seriously. See Dalton, 383 Wis. 2d 147, $\P62$ (rejecting as "unconvincing" the state's contention that "any increase in a sentence within the statutorily prescribed range does not morph a sentencing consideration into a criminal penalty"). Indeed, in Dalton, the lengthier sentence was within the penalty maximum for the OWI. See *id.*, \P 21, 62, 65 (rejecting state's argument that Dalton's refusal to consent to a warrantless blood draw "may be taken into account [at sentencing] as long as it does not push the punishment above the statutorily allowed maximum for OWI").

Id., ¶ 17.

Based on the above, the State's analogies to case law regarding recidivism are inapposite to Mr. Forrett's case. Accordingly, review of this issue is unnecessary to resolve Mr. Forrett's appeal or develop and clarify the law.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Court should deny the State's petition for review.